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THE BEGINNINGS OF THE CHELTENHAM DISPENSARY
by Daphne Doughton

Cheltenham normally presents itself as ‘The Health Spa’,
basking in the fame and fortune of the King’s visit of 1788, which
had the virtue of extolling ‘The Waters’. A writer on ‘The Me-
dicinal Springs’, of 1901 concludes ‘... there is no lack at Chel-
tenham for the materials for the making of a flourishing Spa, whilst
the town itself presents attractions which can vie with those of any
similar resort in this country’.! This picture may still be said to
be true today.

The need for a dispensary has to be placed into the context of
the period, whilst recognising there was a dispensary movement
over several decades commencing in 1769 and stretching well into
the nineteenth century. Paul Langford writes that before this date
‘The story of the hospitals as told by contemporaries was not one
of uninterrupted success. They were expensive to maintain and
cumbersome to administer. They were also vulnerable to the winds
of economic change and the whim of the subscribing public’.2 All
the same the eighteenth century hospitals were ‘the first breath of
the new hospital voluntary movement’.©® They grew in numbers
with an estimated seventy-nine in the provinces by 1825.

Cheltenham’s Dispensary, generally regarded as having opened
on 3 May 1813 for the relief of patients, arose as a forerunner, first,
to a Dispensary and Casualty Ward, then to a General Hospital and
Dispensary, before the later stages of becoming Cheltenham
General Hospital, at Sandford Fields, demonstrating a natural
progression from Dispensary to Hospital, ‘indeed one often grew
out of another’.2 The change in titles was not necessarily syn-
onymous with the Institution’s habit of moving sites in the earlier
days. ‘Progress has marked its career from the first; the premises
used having been too small for the number of patients, it was
successively removed to Winchcomb-Street, North-Street, the late
Free Press Office, the Female Training School, High Street, until
ultimately the noble building now termed ‘The General Hospital’,
was erected’.Y The dispensaries of the period were generated to
serve the sick poor, often in their homes for the seriously ill; the
prospective Dispensary Assistant in 1813 had this in his list of
work./ In the growing industrial and provincial towns the dis-
pensaries could be considered ‘the first step towards the prevention
of disease’.

COUNTY DEVELOPMENTS

For the county of Gloucestershire, Stroud showed an early lead
with a dispensary originating from 1750, with an account of it
written by Paul Hawkins Fisher in 1871, explaining the dispen-
sary as ‘a Society for providing gratuitous medical advice, and
medicine for the poor of the town and nei ghbourhood’,9 attributed
to Samuel Jones MD, the then resident physician of the dispen-
sary. For Gloucester and the county in 1755 there was established
the Gloucester Infirmary10 in Westgate Street, ahead of the 1861
opening in Southgate Street of a new building. Specific to this
charity’s foundation and endowment was the recognition that the
Infirmary was ‘for the cure of the sick and lame of any country or
nation, who are destitute of the means of support, and unable to
pay for their cure’.11 Later the Lunatic Asylum was opened in
1823 at Horton Road, 12 although Dibdin writes that the sub-
scriptions for the Asylum were started in 1793 and in the next year
a purchase of land, near to the Infirmary, occurred.

There is evidence that the sick and injured of Cheltenham were
cared for at Gloucester Infirmary; a railroad worker fell and broke
his leg in the High Street and was conveyed there immediately,
whilst a little later in 1810, Mr. Minster, Surgeon ‘gratuitously set
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the bone’ for a cooper, John Wilson, who had broken a leg and
dislocated an ankle. He was then transported to the Infirmary.
There were subscriptions sent over the years from the Cheltenham
Parish Overseers of the Poor to benefit the Infirmary. ! S5 Asaresult
of a sermon at the Parish Church in September 1809, £57 17s 6d
was the total collection, ‘perceived’ to reflect ‘the feelings of the
congregation’,10 whilst boxes at the Pump Rooms when emptied
in 1809, 1811 and 1813, contained money to benefit the Infirmary
charity.

The above two stories of injured men being conveyed to the
Infirmary are a reminder of the time and distance required, apart
from the suffering, that would have inevitably been experienced
during the journey there; for Wilson his journey was in a post-
chaise. The problem of the distance was highlighted in ‘An
Address to the Inhabitants and visitors of Cheltenham’ at the end
of 1811, which reads ‘as an additional argument in favour of such
a necessity (a General Dispensary) that the distance from the
General Hospital of the County, and the danger that attends the
removal of patients, renders the advantages offered by that highly
valuable establishment unattainable in many cases of external
injuries and internal disease’. This came within a lengthy address,
reasoning for the establishment of a Dispensary in the Town, ‘for
the relief of the Sick Poor, of which it is confidently expected the
advantages will equal those which have attended similar estab-
lishments in other places’. |

EARLY PHILANTHROPY

The Dispensary in the town was one of several philanthropic

institutions established to serve the poor of the period. The first
was the Sunday Schools commencing in 1787, then came, amongst
others, the School of Industry, labouring the first year ‘under all
the disadvantages ever attendant on such undertakings’,18 to help
the lower classes, starting in 1806 in a barn, with funds amounting
to nineteen guineas.
The call for a dispensary did not reduce the appeals for charity but
rather added to the demands on the interested philanthropic for
their money and practical help. There was recognition that in
helping the sick, the poor and the pauper, this could lessen the
demands on the Poor Rate. Three years after the erection of the
new Poor-House in 1809 this was not so, because of the various
debts that had been accumulated and the increased numbers of the
poor, both inside and outside the house; measures were taken to
remedy the ‘alarming state of things’. There was recognition that
‘the Poor Rates had been unusually high’.20

THE CALL FOR A DISPENSARY

A letter had first appeared in the Cheltenham Chronicle of 24
May 1810, which was written by ‘Observer’, entering into a
dialogue on an existing proposition that an organ be purchased for
the Parish Church and suggesting ‘that the money now collected
might go to a far better purpose ... which is, the Establishment of
a Dispensary, for furnishing the poor with medicines and advice,
gratis’. In the hope that this idea would be taken on, the person
was offering a total subscription of five guineas which was double
the amount to be given for the organ and organist! ‘Observer’
carried that concern that ‘we shall not be found deficient in adding
to the comforts and relieving the distresses of the poor and needy,’
finally calling on the ‘many Medical Gentlemen in the town’ to
give their aid, and ‘to effect so desirable, laudable and humane a
purpose’.






BENEFACTORS

Charity allowed the sick poor to obtain tickets for admission
to the services of the Dispensary; the benefactors had ‘the right
of recommendation, and other privileges ... according to the sums
subscribed’.45 The larger the sum the larger number of patients
a donor could commend; with a gift of twenty guineas the person
could become a governor with voting rights and eligibility to serve
on the general committee. These matters were reflected in the
proposals in 1811 and carried through in 1813, with Dr. Charles
Parry playing a prominentrole, helping with his knowledge of the
hospital at Bath towards the formation of the Institution’s Rules
and Regulations. Dr. Fosbroke, writing in 1826, attributes the first
proposals and first code of regulations to his friend Dr. Parry of
Bath and also referred to him as the ‘chief founder’ of the
Cheltenham Dispensary.#0 Year by year the work of the Chel-
tenham Dispensary was reviewed against the available funds#’/
at the public Annual Meeting held in January; a notice to the effect
would appear in the local newspaper®9, with the official report later
presented and frequently the attraction of editorial comment.

The charitable were relied upon to help in a variety of ways.
This remained so throughout the century and caused Ruth
Hodgkinson to write, ‘The dispensary system has been accused
of shifting the burden from the whole of the community and
imposing it on the charitable few’.49 Certainly this was not the
case for Cheltenham, in the earlier decades of the century with
patronage to the fore, there came assistance from ‘different classes
of society ... (forgetful of all private and party considerations)
persons of the most discordant political and reli %ous principles
are umtmg in the cause of suffermg humanity’.”Y Benevolence
made its demands, evident not only in the town’s institutions, but
also in such very basic provision of soup kitchens, clothing and
fuel. ‘The poor frequently wanted nourishment as well as medicine

.> said Dr. Thomas (a Physician to the Dispensary) in his support
of The Cheltenham Benevolent and Anti Mendicity Society, at its
fourth Annual General Meeting in 183151

THE DISPENSARY OPENS

With the Dispensary doors open, the work was under way on
that first Monday, 3 May 1813, ‘for the relief of Patients’.52
Earlier at the Vestry-Room meeting, those present were happy that
there had been ‘the offer of a most commodious house for the
purposes of this Charity’. Then an agreement was soon made with
the Proprietor, and recognition was given, ‘that a principal dif-
ficulty being removed (by this offer) ..." of a house in Winchcomb-
Street, being secured to use as a Dispensary.

The Institution flourished over the years and in the 1860s,
Goding quoted from Sir George Ballinghall, considered a medical
authority on hospital building in several continents. When
considering the H design of Cheltenham’s hospital at Sandford
Road, he wrote ‘It is one of the neatest, most commodious, and
compact Little Hospitals with which I am acquainted; ... a good
example of how much may be done in the way of hOSX)ltal bUIIdlng
with a very moderate sum ... erected for £7, 695°.5

There is considerable evidence that in the early decades of the
nineteenth century Cheltenham was Keeping abreast on a provincial
basis in making provision for the poor, as seen by the inaugura-
tion, growth and maturity of the Dispensary and the Hospitals
which were to follow.
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+ Unless in @ case of extreme necessity; for example, the Small.Pox breaking ont among persons who
hase never had that diseasr, where no Vaccine matter can be obtained, -
N.B. Weare authorised to add the names of those Gentlemen to which the asterisk is prefived, though

we have not yet had an opportunity of collecting their actual signatures.

List of Medical Practitioners in the .County of Gloucester resolved to
promote vaccination, [811. Courtesy of the Glos. Record Office D 303
C1/53b

16

REFERENCES

1. Edward T. Wilson &
John Sawyer, eds., A Guide
to Cheltenham: British
Medical Association, Chel-
tenham Meeting, (Norman
Sawyer & Co, 1901) p 18.

2. Paul Langford, A Polite
and Commercial People,
England, 1727-1783,ed JM.
Roberts, (Guild Publishing,
OUP? 1989) P 141, Boust of the Distinguished Charucters of Cheltenham,

3. A.G.L. lves, British anp
Hospitals, (Collins 1948), p Patrong of the Ingtitution,

’(’Lb;ntmmuzml q:ntltmbnm.

AMATEUR PLAY,
For the BENEFIT of the DISPENSARY,

UNDER THK PATOONALE ov

17. . +3~The Profits resulting fium 1he Performances of this
4. 1Ibid, p 25. Evewing, are to ho devoted to the enrichment f the
5. M.C. Buer, Health, Funds of tho Cheltenliam  Dispensury,—un lustitu.

. . thun, meviting, fromits wility, sad philanthropie ten-

Wealth and Popudation in the dency, the warmest sup]mrlil'lhe Benevlent, whove

Early Days of the Industrial aid, on this occasiun, is 1espretiully selicied,

Revolution,

1926), p 135.

6. John Goding, Norman's
History of Cheltenham, 1863,
p 442.

1. Cheltenham Chronicle,
Advert for Residential As-
sistant. 18 March 1813.

8. Ruth G. Hodgkinson, The origins of the National Health Service,
The Medical Services of the New Poor Law, 1834-1871, The Wellcome
Historical Medical Library, 1967, p 315.

9. Paul Hawkins Fisher, Notes and Recollections of Stroud, (Alan
Sutton, 1986), p 178.

10. T.F. Dibdin, The History of Cheltenham, (H. Ruff, 1803), pp 179-
184.
11. 1bid, p 181.

12. Ian Hollingsbee: text; Gloucester’'s Asylums, 1794-1988; devised
by Christopher Morris, Curator, Gloucester Folk Museum, 1988, p 1.
13. Dibdin, op cit, p 189.

14. Cheltenham Chronicle, 1 November 1810.

15. Overseers Parish Records of Saint Mary’s Church, GRO, P78, OV
2/1 21 January 1818 e.g. one year's subscription £4.4s (£4.20p).

16. Cheltenham Chronicle, 28 September 1809.

17. Ibid, 5 December 1811.

18. Ibid, 25 May 1809.

19. Ibid, 16 July 1812.

20. J.K. Griffiths, The Cheltenham Guide, 1816, p 33.

21. Cheltenham Chronicle, 5 December 1811.

22. 1bid. The increasing population: see The New and Improved
Cheltenham Guide, Wood and Cunningham, Bath, 1812, p 17

23. Cheltenham Chronicle, 5 December 1811,

24. The Improved Cheltenham Guide, Wood & Co, Bath, 1816, p 62.
25. Cheltenham Chronicle, 12 January 1815.

26. F.F. Cartwright, A Social History of Medicine, Longman, 1977,
p 87.

27. Glo'shire Vaccine Association, Cheltenham Chronicle, 4 April
1811.

28. M.C. Buer, Health, Wealth and Population, p 191; Jenner's first
vaccination: 1796, p 261.

29. Rev. T.D. Fosbroke, A Picturesque and Topographical Account
of Cheltenham, Cheltenham, 1812, p 207.

30. Annual Report of the Committee of Cheltenham General Hospital
and Dispensary, GRO, HO 3 8/1-20, 1845.

31. Vestry Minutes of Saint Mary's Church, 27 November 1770.
32. Simeon Moreau, A Tour to Cheltenham Spa, Bath, 1788, p 49.
33. Vestry Minutes of Saint Mary's Church, April 1806 and April
1807.

34. Rev. T.D. Fosbroke, op. cit, p 207.

35. Alywin Sampson, They Lived here in Cheltenham, Cheltenham
Civic Society, 1981.

36. G. Arthur Cardew, Echoes and Reminiscences of Medical
Practitioners in Cheltenham of the Nineteenth Century, ed J. Bur-
row & Co. Ltd, 1930, p 7.

37. Henry Branch, Cotswold and Vale, Norman Sawyer & Co, 1904,
p 180.

38. Cheltenham Chronicle, 25 April, 2 May 1811.

39. Ibid, 15 Dec. 1811.

40. 1bid, 11 March 1813, 13 Jan. 1814.

41. Vestry Minutes of Saint Mary's Church, 3 May 1793.

42. 1bid. 11 Feb. 1799.

43. G. Arthur Cardew, op. cit. p 7.

44. Vestry Minutes of Saint Mary's Church, 20 April 1813.

(Routledge, SATURDAY Eveuing nest, Feb. 5, 1814,
will be presenied, the winil Trugedy of

DOUGLAS.

Raising money for the Dispensary.
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